THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Larry B. Hyman, Jr.  
Circuit Court Judge

**RECEIVED**

SEP 09 2016

SC Court of Appeals

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2015-001868

SKYDIVE MYRTLE BEACH, INC. ....Appellant

v.

HORRY COUNTY..... Respondent

**FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

Robert B. Varnado (SC Bar # 0007085)  
Alexis M. Wimberly (SC Bar # 101611)  
BROWN & VARNADO LLC  
P.O. Box 1127  
Mount Pleasant, South Carolina 29465  
(843) 737-7300  
*Attorneys for Appellant*

**Other Counsel of Record:**  
Michael W. Battle, Esquire  
Battle Law Firm, LLC  
P.O. Box 530  
Conway, SC 29528

Arrigo P. Carotti, Esquire

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Skydive Myrtle Beach, Inc., (“SDMB”) is a skydiving business that operated out of the Grand Strand Airport (“GSA”) located in North Myrtle Beach, South Carolina. The GSA is owned by Horry County (the “County”). For many years, the County employed Grand Strand Aviation d/b/a/ Ramp 66 (“Ramp 66”) as its agent to administer GSA.

On May 10, 2012, Ramp 66 entered into an eight (8) year lease with SDMB for the rental of “Bird Hangar” which is now known as “Hangar 7”. [R. pp. 359-361]. At some point thereafter, SDMB lost its copy of the Lease.

In 2013, the County terminated its agency relationship with Ramp 66 and assumed direct oversight of GSA through the Horry County Department of Airports (“HCDA”), a County agency. Thereafter, HCDA presented a “Space Use Permit” to SDMB, which SDMB executed on September 13, 2013. [R. pp. 335-341].

SDMB filed a complaint against the County, the HCDA and individual defendants (county personnel) on February 28, 2014, (“Primary Action” or “14-CP-26-1193”)<sup>1</sup> alleging fifteen causes of action arising from County’s conduct against SDMB which included, *inter alia*, allegations of breach of a lease contract, breach of a lease contract accompanied by a fraudulent act, civil conspiracy, fraud, interference with a contractual relationship, and attempted retaliatory eviction. [R. pp. 33-68].

Every allegation in SDMB’s Primary Action is related to SDMB’s leasehold interest in Hangar 7. The County answered on March 15, 2014 but did not counterclaim

---

<sup>1</sup> *Skydive Myrtle Beach, Inc. (f/k/a Skydive Myrtle Beach, LLC) v. Horry County, Horry County Department of Airports, H. Randolph Haldi, Pat Apone, Tim Jackson, and Jack Teal*, C.A. 2014-CP-26-1193.

for ejectment or declaratory judgment of its rights, nor did it move to amend its Answer. [R. pp. 69-75].

However, on June 5, 2014, the County filed an Application for Ejectment against SDMB in the Myrtle Beach Magistrate's Court, styled as *Horry County v. Skydive Myrtle Beach, Inc.*, CA No. 2014CV261092444 ("Magistrate's Action"). [R. pp. 1, 3, 78].

On June 13, 2014, SDMB moved for the Magistrate's Action to be dismissed or consolidated with the Primary Action based on the following grounds: S.C. Code Ann. § 23-3-30 (magistrate jurisdiction limited to \$7,500.00); Rules 12(b)(1) and (2), SCRCPP (subject matter and personal jurisdiction); Rule 12(b)(8), SCRCPP (another action pending between same parties and same subject matter); and Rule 42, SCRCPP (judicial economy, common questions of law and fact require consolidation). [R. p. 86]. It should be noted that formal service on SDMB was not effected on SDMB until four days later June 17, 2014. [R. p. 77].

On July 2, 2014, the Magistrate orally denied SDMB's Motion to Dismiss – holding that the Magistrate's Court had concurrent jurisdiction to determine an action that was "strictly a Land Lord [sic] Tenant dispute, and that the action already filed by the defendant in Common Pleas does not address." [R. p. 3]. On July 11, 2014, the Magistrate's Court mailed SDMB a Summons dated July 8, 2014, setting a bench trial at 11:00 a.m. for July 23, 2014. [R. p. 7].

On July 18, 2014, SDMB filed a timely Motion to Reconsider the denial of its 12(b) Motion to Dismiss the Magistrate's Action pursuant to: (1) Rule 12(b)(8), SCRCPP (Primary Action filed); (2) Rule 12(b)(1) and (2) (no subject matter and personal jurisdiction since limit of Magistrate's Court is \$7,500.00 as set forth in S.C. Ann. § 23-3-3). [R. pp. 88-89].

In the event SDMB's 12(b) motions were denied, SDMB also requested alternate relief: (1) to consolidate all matters under Rule 42, SCRCF in the interests of judicial economy to avoid undue expense for common issues of fact and law in the Primary Action; (2) time to file its answer and counter-claim pursuant to Rule 12(a)(1), SCRCF ("if the Court denies the [12(b)(1), (2), or (8)] motion or postpones its disposition until the trial on the merits, the responsive pleading shall be served within 15 days after notice of the Court's action"); (3) thirty days continuance pursuant to Rule 14, SCRMC (the "court shall be lenient in the allowance of changes or amendments to complaints, answers, and counterclaims, and in granting continuances of trials for good cause shown. . . . Raising a claim, defense, or counterclaim for the first time at trial shall constitute grounds for continuance when necessary to serve the ends of justice."); and (4) a Jury Trial pursuant to Rule 13(c), SCRMC. [Id.].

On July 21, 2014, over County's objection, the Magistrate allowed a hearing on SDMB's motion to reconsider when "both parties [would be] present in the courtroom." [R. p. 3]. The hearing on the motion to reconsider was set for July 23, 2014 at 11:00 a.m. [Id.].

At the July 23, 2014, hearing, the Magistrate's Court denied SDMB's Motion to Reconsider along with its requests for continuance, time to file an answer and counterclaim, and a jury trial. Significantly, thirty minutes later the Magistrate Court then conducted a full bench trial less than an hour after denying the motion to reconsider, over SDMB's objection and requests for continuance. [R. p. 3]. The Magistrate then issued a Writ of Ejectment against SDMB. [R. p. 1].

Specifically, the Magistrate's Return states:

Attorney Eastman requested The Court to reconsider its ruling/decision on the Motion he put forth. The Court advised both parties that it would hear his Motion of Reconsideration on July 23<sup>rd</sup> with both parties present in the courtroom.

On July 23<sup>rd</sup>, again both parties appeared. The Court heard from attorney Eastman who requested the Court to reconsider its ruling/decision on the Motion he put forth. The Court again respectfully denied his Motion. At that point [sic] The Court moved directly into the action filed by Horry County, Rule to Vacate. Attorney Eastman Requested a Jury Trial and 30 days to file a Counter Claim [sic]. The Court denied both of his request [sic]. Neither one were [sic] filed/requested timely. The Counter Claim [sic] should have been filed within the 30 day time period to file The answer and jury Trial [sic] should have been requested five days prior to the court date of July 23<sup>rd</sup>, 2014. The Court heard testimony from both sides and there witness [sic]. The Court found that based on the testimony and evidence issued [sic] that the agreement/lease between Skydive Myrtle Beach and Horry County did in fact expire January 1<sup>st</sup>, 2014. That Horry County is the rightful land lord [sic] and did present Skydive Myrtle Beach with a new agreement/lease. That Skydive Myrtle Beach did not agree with it, and refused to sign the new agreement/lease. Therefore Skydive Myrtle Beach has no legal right to be on the property or in the building. Eviction was granted.

[R. p. 3].

On July 25, 2014, SDMB filed its timely appeal to the circuit court. [R. p. 82]. Importantly, on August 1, 2014, a Bond Hearing was held in the Magistrate's Court with SDMB appearing *pro se*.<sup>2</sup> The Court issued a bond requiring SDMB to pay back-rent and remain current on its Hangar 7 occupancy at the \$1,200.00 per month rate as previously agreed between the parties. [R. p. 2].

---

<sup>2</sup> On July 30, 2015, the Magistrate denied SDMB's request for continuance due to schedule conflict and unavailability. Counsel for SDMB was in Florida and could not attend due to schedule conflict on less than two days' notice. [R. pp. 137; 80].

On March 2, 2015, counsel for SDMB presented argument that the Appeal should be consolidated with the Primary Action and filed written memorandum of law under the Primary Action caption. [R. pp. 111-136]. The court continued the appeal and ordered SDMB to request a joint status conference. [R. pp. 6-7].

On March 13, 2015, SDMB filed a Request for a Joint Status Conference in both the Primary Action and Appeal. [R. p. 321].

On May 6, 2015, the appeal came to a hearing before the Horry County Court of Common Pleas, the Honorable Larry B. Hyman, Jr. presiding, along with SDMB's motion for Joint Status Conference, as well as Respondent's motions for a rule to show cause, increase bond amount, and injunctive relief. After hearing oral argument, Judge Hyman then directed the parties to submit proposed orders for his consideration no later than May 11, 2015, which counsel for both parties timely accomplished. [R. pp. 396-418, 388-395]. In the meantime, Judge Hyman executed a Form 4 Order dated May 6, 2015, filed with the Clerk of Court on May 13, 2015, mailed to counsel of record on May 20, 2015 (received by counsel for SDMB on Tuesday, May 26, 2015), in which he indicated "Motion to Appeal Denied" (hereinafter "Form 4 Order"). [R. pp. 8-9].

#### **Appeal # 1 – Dismissal of Appeal**

The Form 4 Order did not state that a formal order was forthcoming; however, within ten (10) days of its service, on May 27, 2015, Judge Hyman executed a formal *Order Dismissing Magistrate's Appeal*, filed May 29, 2015, served via U.S. Mail that same date, and received by counsel for SDMB via email also on May 29, 2015 ("Formal Order"). [R. pp. 10-19].

Out of an abundance of caution, SDMB moved the Court to reconsider both orders (i.e., the Form 4 Order and the Final Order) simultaneously by a timely Rule 59(e) Motion to Reconsider served June 3, 2015. [R. pp. 139-163]. Judge Hyman signed an Order Denying Appellant's Motion to Reconsider Dismissal of Appeal on July 16, 2015, which was filed July 21, 2016 and received by Appellant on July 27, 2015. [R. pp. 20-23]. Appellant's Notice of Appeal thereto was timely served on August 19, 2015.

**Appeal # 2 – Supersedeas/Stay**

On September 16, 2015, the County issued a seventy-two (72) hour notice of intent to eject SDMB from GSA on the grounds that a supersedeas bond was required since the appeal was denied. [R. p. 358].

On September 17, 2015, SDMB filed a Notice of Motion for Emergency Injunction and Stay of Ejectment. [R. pp. 164-178]. Judge Hyman conducted a hearing on September 22, 2015 and directed the parties to file any additional, supporting memoranda and materials by September 25, 2015. [R. p. 302].

On September 25, 2015, the Appellant filed a Supplemental Memorandum of Law which raised and analyzed the matters contained in Section III of this brief; Respondent filed a supplemental memorandum of law as well. [R. pp. 419-431, 432-438].

On October 13, 2015, Judge Hyman signed an Order Denying Appellant's Motion for Injunction and Stay of Ejectment, which was filed October 15, 2015 and received by Appellant the same date. [R. pp. 28-31]. On October 23, 2015, Appellant served a timely Rule 59(e) motion to reconsider the October 13, 2015 Order. [R. pp. 179-191].

On November 19, 2015, Judge Hyman denied SDMB's Motion to Reconsider the October 13, 2015 Order which was received by Appellant's counsel that same day electronically, but not filed with the clerk of court until November 24, 2015. [R. p. 32B].

Out of an abundance of caution, Appellant had additionally filed a September 25, 2015, *Verified Petition for Supersedeas Bond to the Horry County Court of Common Pleas*. [R. p. 192]. On November 4, 2015, Judge Hyman issued an Order Denying Petition for Supersedeas Bond which was filed November 9, 2015, of which written notice was received November 16. [R. p. 32].

Accordingly, Appellant served its Notice of Appeal # 2 on November 20, 2015. Following a motion to consolidate, the Court of Appeals consolidated these two appeals by an Order dated December 30, 2015.

#### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

Whereas the circuit court maintains a broad scope of review in deciding an appeal of a magistrate's order, the South Carolina Court of Appeals, when reviewing the circuit court's adjudication of an appeal of an ejection proceeding in magistrate's court, does so under a more limited standard, under which (1) findings of fact are to be upheld if there is any supporting evidence and (2) absent an error of law, the circuit court's holding is to be affirmed. *McNair v. United Energy Distributors*, 390 S.C. 44, 49-50, 699 S.E.2d 723, 726 (Ct. App. 2010); *Bowers v. Thomas*, 373 S.C. 240, 244, 644 S.E.2d 751, 753 (Ct. App. 2007). Where the circuit court has affirmed the magistrate court decision, this court looks to whether the circuit court order is "controlled by an error of law or is unsupported by the facts." *Parks v. Characters Night Club*, 345 S.C. 484, 490, 548 S.E.2d 605, 608 (Ct. App. 2001). "The Court of Appeals will presume that an affirmance by a Circuit court of a

magistrate's judgment was made upon the merits where the testimony is sufficient to sustain the magistrate's judgment and there are no facts that show the affirmance was influenced by an error of law." *Id.*

### **STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL**

I. Was the circuit court guided by errors of law in not reversing or vacating the magistrate's order by virtue of the fact the Respondent's magistrate action was a mandatory counterclaim in ongoing circuit court litigation, which the Respondent waived under Rule 13(a), SCRCPP by not pleading it in the circuit court?

II. Was the circuit court guided by errors of law in not reversing or vacating the magistrate's order by virtue of Rule 12(b)(8), SCRCPP?

III. Was the circuit court guided by errors of law in failing to reverse or vacate the magistrate's order for his improper application of the rules of court – which deprived SDMB of its due process protections?

IV. Was the circuit court guided by the same error of law as the magistrate in ruling that the Space Use Permit (a temporary, revocable 90-day license between the parties, without consideration) had superseded, modified and novated a prior eight (8) year, long-term lease between them?

V. Did the circuit court commit an error of law in holding that its ruling was not automatically stayed during the pendency of the instant appeal?

## ARGUMENT I

**The circuit court was guided by errors of law in not reversing or vacating the magistrate's order by virtue of the fact the Respondent's magistrate case was a mandatory counterclaim in ongoing circuit court litigation, which the Respondent waived under Rule 13(a), SCRPC by not pleading it in the circuit court.**

Rule 13(a), SCRPC provides that: “[a] pleading shall state as a [compulsory] counterclaim any claim which at the time of serving the pleading the pleader has against any opposing party, if it arises out of the transaction or occurrence that is the subject matter of the opposing party's claim and does not require for its adjudication the presence of third parties of whom the court cannot acquire jurisdiction.” Rule 13(a), SCRPC.

The purpose of Rule 13(a) is “to prevent multiplicity of actions and to achieve resolution in a single lawsuit of all disputes arising out of common matters.” *Beach Co. v. Twillman*, 351 S.C at 56, 61, 566 S.E.2d 863, 865 (citing *Southern Const. Co. v. Pickard*, 371 U.S. 57, 60, 83 S.Ct. 108, 109 (1962)), in which the United States Supreme Court held that Rule 13(a) “was particularly directed against one who failed to assert a counterclaim in one action and then instituted a second action in which that counterclaim became the basis of the complaint.”). The South Carolina Supreme Court, as far back as 1955, held that Rule 13(a)'s purpose was to prevent “undesirable possibility presented under the original rule whereby a party having a ... compulsory counterclaim could avoid stating it ... by bringing an independent action in another court.” *Sparrow v. Nerzig*, 228 S.C. 277, 283, 89 S.E.2d 718, 721 (1955) (quoting Rule 13, SCRPC, advisory committee's notes on amendments).

In *Crestwood Golf Club, Inc. v. Potter*, 328 S.C. 201, 217, 493 S.E.2d 826, 835 (1997), the South Carolina Supreme Court unequivocally established that if a compulsory

counterclaim is not raised in the first action, then a defendant is precluded from asserting the claim in a subsequent action. *Accord Baker v. Gold Seal Liquors, Inc.*, 417 U.S. 467, 477 n. 1, 94 S.Ct. 2504 (1974); *Q Int'l Courier Inc. v. Smoak*, 441 F.3d 214, 219 (4th Cir. 2006).<sup>3</sup>

In *North Carolina Fed. Sav. & Loan Ass'n v. DAV Corp.*, 298 S.C. 514, 571, 381 S.E.2d 903, 905 (1989) our Supreme Court adopted the “logical relationship” test to determine whether a counterclaim is compulsory or permissive. *See also Mullinax v. Bates*, 317 S.C. 394, 396, 453 S.E.2d 894, 985 (1995). Whether a counterclaim is logically related to the initial claim depends upon the facts of each case. *Id.* “By definition, a counterclaim is compulsory only if it arises out of the same transaction or occurrence as the opposing party's claim.” *Wachovia Bank, N.A. v. Blackburn*, 407 S.C. 321, 331, 755 S.E.2d 437, 442 (2014) (citing *Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. v. Smith*, 398 S.C. 487, 495, 740 S.E.2d 328, 332-333 (Ct. App. 2012;)) *see also Twillman*, 351 S.C. at 61, 566 S.E.2d at 865. “Claims that arise out of separate transactions or occurrences than the subject matter of the opposing party's claims are, instead, permissive.” *Blackburn*, 407 S.C. at 331, 755 S.E.2d at 442; Rule 13, SCRPC.

When the logical relationship test is applied in the case at bar, it becomes patently clear that the County’s magistrate ejectment action is logically related, and arises out of the same transactions and occurrences, which are the subject of Appellant’s lawsuit in 14-CP-26-1193.

---

<sup>3</sup> The Reporter's Note notes that South Carolina's Rule 13(a) is the same as the federal rule on counterclaims. Accordingly, this Court may rely on federal law to interpret our Rule 13. *See Brown v. Leverette*, 291 S.C. 364, 366–67, 353 S.E.2d 697, 698–99 (1987) (utilizing federal law to interpret a state rule that tracked the language of the corresponding federal rule); *Twillman*, 351 S.C. 56, 62, 566 S.E.2d 863, 865-866.

For example, the Complaint in 14-CP-26-1193 filed February 28, 2014 sets forth numerous allegations that the County breached its lease agreement with Appellant. At ¶ 23 of the “Factual Allegations,” Appellant detailed how the County sought to eject it from Hangar 7 in February, 2014. The first and second causes of action [R. pp. 33-38, ¶¶ 28-66] go into heavy detail for the period of 2012-2014 as to the County obtained the Space Use Permit under what Appellant contends were false pretenses; how the County failed to make repairs to Hangar 7 despite promises to do so; and how the County failed to present a new long-term lease to Appellant. The remaining allegations are all in a similar vein. [R. pp. 33-68]. The prayer not only seeks monetary damages but to obtain an order requiring the County to cease interfering with Appellant’s operations.

Moreover, every cause of action in 14-CP-26-1193 directly bears on Appellant’s tenancy rights to Hangar 7 – so does the County’s Magistrate Court action. [R. pp. 33-68, 3]. Every cause of action in 14-CP-26-1193 attacks the County’s right to enforce the Space Use Permit – which is the very document that it took to the magistrate to enforce. In 14-CP-26-1193, the Appellant contends the County breached its landlord tenant obligations; in the magistrate action, by contrast the County contended that the Appellant was in breach. [R. pp. 33-68, 3].

Accordingly, the inescapable conclusion is that both actions involve the same parties, seeking to determine their rights vis-à-vis Hangar 7, under the same lease agreements and arrangements, all of which ultimately bore on whether SDMB must vacate or stay in Hangar 7. Due to the clear, logical relationship of these claims, the County was obligated to bring its eject claim as a counterclaim within 14-CP-26-1193 or else it forever waived it. *Twillman*, 351 S.C. at 62, 566 S.E.2d at 865; *Crestwood*, 328 S.C. at 217, 493

S.E.2d at 835; *First-Citizens Bank & Trust Co. v. Hucks*, 305 S.C. 296, 298, 408 S.E.2d 222, 223 (1991).

Because the County answered the Complaint in 14-CP-26-1193 on March 18, 2014, without a counterclaim, and then brought a separate magistrate action on June 13, 2014, without even seeking leave to amend its Answer in 14-CP-26-1193 [R. pp. 33-68, 69-76], the provisions, policy and purpose of Rule 13(a) was therefore violated when it filed the magistrate action. *Crestwood*, 328 S.C. at 217, 493 S.E.2d at 835; *Hucks*, 305 S.C. at 298, 408 S.E.2d at 223.

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