THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

JUL 25 2016

SC Court of Appeals

The Honorable Larry B. Hyman, Jr.
Circuit Court Judge

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2015-001868

SKYDIVE MYRTLE BEACH, INC.....Appellant

v.

HORRY COUNTY.....Respondent

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Michael W. Battle, Esquire
Battle Law Firm, LLC
PO Box 530
Conway, SC 29528
(843-248-4321)

Arrigo P. Carotti, Esquire
Horry County Attorney
1301 2nd Ave.
Conway, SC 29526
Attorneys for Respondent

Other Counsel of Record:
Robert B. Varnado
Alexis M. Wimberly
Brown & Varando LLC
PO Box 1127
Mount Pleasant, SC 29465
(843- 737-7300)
and
Robert G. Eastman

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

ARGUMENTS

Ia. The circuit court correctly denied Appellant's waiver/counterclaim argument because Appellant did not raise this argument to the magistrate, which means it is not preserved.

Appellant claims Horry County's Rule to Vacate/Eject was a compulsory counterclaim that should have been pled in response to Appellant's lawsuit filed in circuit court. Appellant claims Horry County's failure to include a Rule to Vacate/Eject as a counterclaim in its answer to Appellant's circuit court lawsuit results in a forfeiture of Horry County's right to eject Appellant from its property.

Counterclaims arising out of the same transaction or occurrence that are the subject of the action are 'compulsory' under Rule 13(a) and are barred by res judicata or estoppel by judgment if not asserted. *Beach Co. v. Twillman, Ltd.*, 351 S.C. 56, 62, 566 S.E.2d 863, 865 (Ct. App. 2002). However, the plea of res judicata is an affirmative defense and must be pled. *S. Carolina Dep't of Soc. Servs. v. Foggie*, 271 S.C. 109, 110, 245 S.E.2d 423, 423 (1978). The defense of preclusion by a former judgment is an affirmative defense which ordinarily must be specially pleaded. *Beatty v. National Surety Co.*, 132 S.C. 45, 128 S.E. 40 (1925); *Lindler v. Baker*, 280 S.C. 130, 311 S.E.2d 99 (Ct.App.1984); cf., Rule 8(c), S.C.R.Civ.P.; *Wagner v. Wagner*, 286 S.C. 489, 491-92, 335 S.E.2d 246, 247 (Ct. App. 1985).

Appellant did not raise Waiver or the Rule about Compulsory Counterclaims in the Magistrate's proceedings. The first time Appellant argued Rule 13, SCRPC and the issue of waiver was when Appellant moved under Rule 59(e), SCRPC, to have Judge Larry B. Hyman reconsider his order dismissing Appellant's appeal from magistrate's court. Prior to that time, Appellant was arguing that its pending lawsuit in circuit court was the same as Horry County's Rule to Vacate/Eject and should be dismissed under Rule 12(b) (8), SCRPC. [Rp 82]. This argument is different than the waiver argument Appellant is making now.

Issue preservation rules are designed to give the trial court a fair opportunity to rule on the issues, and thus provide the Court with a platform for meaningful appellate review. *Herron v. Century BMW*, 395 S.C. 461, 465, 719 S.E.2d 640, 642 (2012). "It is

axiomatic that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge to be preserved for appellate review.” *Wilder Corp. v. Wilke*, 330 S.C. 71, 76, 497 S.E.2d 731, 733 (1998). Furthermore, a party cannot use a Rule 59(e) motion to advance an issue the party could have raised to the lower court prior to judgment, but did not. *Hickman v. Hickman*, 301 S.C. 455, 456, 392 S.E.2d 481, 482 (Ct.App.1990); *Stevens & Wilkinson v. City of Columbia*, 409 S.C. 563, 567, 762 S.E.2d 693, 695 (2014). *Gartside v. Gartside* (G.App. 2009) 383 S.C. 35, 677 S.E.2d 621 (A party cannot use a motion to alter or amend a judgment to present to the lower court an issue the party could have raised prior to judgment but did not.)

Ib. Even if the waiver argument was preserved, and it is not, the Court should affirm because Horry County’s claim for summary ejectment was not a compulsory counterclaim to Appellant’s separate lawsuit, which principally seeks money damages.

Appellant’s attempt to impose a Rule 13(a), SCRPC compulsory counterclaim forfeiture in a Rule to Vacate/Eject is similar to other tenant’s unsuccessful attempts to plead questionable title to oust the magistrate from jurisdiction in statutory ejectment proceedings. Courts have rejected such attempts. *State ex rel. Nesbitt v Marshall* (1884) 24 SC 507. *Swygert v Goodwin* (1890) 32 SC 146, 10 SE 933.

In *Bamberg Banking Company v. Matthews*, 132 S.C. 130, 128 SE 718 (1925), The Supreme Court declared that an allegation of fraud in the procurement of the lease will not oust a Magistrate’s jurisdiction over an ejectment action. (“A tenant cannot oust the magistrate of jurisdiction in [summary ejectment proceedings] ... by the assertion of a superior title in himself”); *id.* at 475–76, 10 S.E.2d at 6 (Otherwise any tenant, by

merely denying the landlord's title or by asserting superior title in himself or in another, could oust the magistrate of jurisdiction and frustrate the plain and salutary object of the statute.”). *Wimberly v Shorter*, 204 S.C. 558, 30 SE 2d 593 (1944).

An ejectment proceeding under Section 27-37-20 is a summary proceeding created by the legislature to provide landlords and tenants with an efficient procedure. It is not a legal action to try title. Appellant’s attempt to impose a requirement that summary ejectment proceedings be pled in every lawsuit involving landlord-tenant disputes would defeat the purpose of the Statute and unduly limit the Statutory Rights of both tenants and landlords. For example in a long term lease, there may be a dispute over who is responsible for making certain repairs to the property. If the tenant sued for a declaratory judgment to determine repair responsibilities, Appellant’s logic requires the landlord to bring a counterclaim and evict the tenant or forever lose its rights to do so. There is nothing in the statute suggesting the General Assembly intended such a result.

II. The circuit court and the magistrate correctly held 12(b)(8), SCRPC, which applies when another action is pending between the same parties, did not bar the County from proceeding with Summary ejectment at the same time Appellant was pursuing a separate suit for damages against the County and certain county officers.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The appellate court applies the same standard of review as the circuit court in scrutinizing the application of Rule 12(b) (8), SCRPC. *Capital City Ins. Co. v. BP Staff*,

Inc., 382 S.C. 92, 99, 674 S.E.2d 524, 528 (Ct.App.2009). A defendant may seek dismissal of an action pursuant to Rule 12(b)(8) when another action is pending between the same parties for the same claim. *Cricket Cove Ventures, LLC v. Gilland*, 390 S.C. 312, 320, 701 S.E.2d 39, 44 (Ct. App. 2010). The trial court must base its ruling solely on allegations set forth in the complaint. *Id.*

DISCUSSION

In South Carolina, dismissal under Rule 12(b) (8) may be proper when there is (1) another action pending, (2) between the same parties, (3) for the same claim. Rule 12(b)(8), SCRPC. The rule has historic ties to a former statute providing a defendant a similar opportunity to demur. Our Supreme Court traditionally interpreted that statute narrowly, stating that it only applied when there was identity of parties, causes of action and relief. *S.C. Public Serv. Comm'n v. City of Rock Hill*, 268 S.C. 405, 408, 234 S.E.2d 228, 229 (1977). This approach is consistent with modern day practice other Courts apply to rules similar to our Rule 12(b)(8). See, e.g., *Beatty v. Liberty Mut. Ins. Group*, 893 N.E.2d 1079, 1084 (Ind.App.Ct.2008) (applying 12(b)(8) dismissal “where the parties, subject matter, and remedies are precisely the same, and it also applies when they are only substantially the same.”). This Court has explained the rule is interpreted narrowly such that the claim must be precisely or substantially the same in both proceedings in order for the drastic remedy of dismissal to be appropriate under Rule 12(b) (8). *Capital City Ins. Co. v. BP Staff, Inc.*, 382 S.C. 92, 105-06, 674 S.E.2d 524, 531-32 (Ct. App. 2009).

A. *Identity of Parties.*

To prevail on a motion to dismiss pursuant to Rule 12(b)(8), Appellant must show that the actions in question were between the same parties in their same capacities. *Cricket Cove Ventures, LLC v. Gilland*, 390 S.C. 312, 316-29, 701 S.E.2d 39, 41-48 (Ct. App. 2010). In Appellant's circuit court case, Appellant brought various claims against Horry County as well as agents and employees of Horry County, in their individual capacities. The summary ejectment case is limited to Horry County, the landlord, bringing suit to eject Appellant from the County's property. The *Cricket Cove Ventures* court found that parties sued in their individual capacities did not meet Rule's 12(b) (8) "same parties" requirement when those parties were sued in their official capacities in another action. *Id.* Appellant's Rule 12(b)(8) appeal fails because the lawsuit in circuit court and the Rule to Vacate/Eject do not involve precisely or substantially the same parties as required by that rule. *Id.* Also see, *Capital City Ins. Co. v. BP Staff, Inc.*, 382 S.C. 92, 106, 674 S.E.2d 524, 532 (Ct. App. 2009).

The present case is on point with *Connecticut Nat. Bank v. Wilson*, 284 S.C. 415, 416, 326 S.E.2d 657, 658 (1985), which predates the adoption of Rule 12(b)(8). In that action to collect on three promissory notes, the plaintiff-appellant, Connecticut National Bank, sued the defendant-respondent, Walter W. Wilson, Jr., a resident of Beaufort, South Carolina, in the S.C. Court of Common Pleas. This action was instituted approximately two months after the commencement of an action in the United States District Court of Connecticut by Wilson and thirty-three other plaintiffs against the same bank. The Connecticut action claimed violations of the Securities Exchange Act, fraud and negligence, and sought rescission of various promissory notes. The Notes included

the same promissory notes at issue in State court. The Supreme Court held the parties, objects, issues, causes of action, and relief involved in the South Carolina action were not identical with those in the Connecticut action. *Id.* The same reasoning applies here.

Even though *Wilson*, was decided in 1985, the applicability of cases predating the adoption of Rule 12 (b)(8) was addressed in *Capital City Ins. Co. v. BP Staff, Inc.*, 382 S.C. 92, 106, 674 S.E.2d 524, 532 (Ct. App. 2009):

The rule has historic ties to a former statute providing a defendant a similar opportunity to demur; our supreme court traditionally interpreted that statute narrowly, stating that it only applied when there was identity of parties, causes of action and relief. We find this approach consistent with modern day practice under rules similar to our Rule 12(b)(8). Accordingly, we interpret the rule narrowly such that the claim must be precisely or substantially the same in both proceedings in order for the drastic remedy of dismissal to be appropriate under Rule 12(b)(8). *Id.* Also see *Trial Handbook for South Carolina Lawyers* § 4:34

B. Identity of Claims.

The sixteen separate claims brought in Appellant's circuit court lawsuit and the Rule to Vacate/Eject action brought by Horry County in magistrate's court are fundamentally different. Fifteen of Appellant's sixteen claims seek damages for various alleged acts of individuals and Horry County. Those prayers for relief demand judgment against all of the defendants, jointly and severally, for actual damages allegedly incurred by Appellant, for the reasonable value of the labor, materials and equipment allegedly furnished by Appellant, certain consequential damages, and attorney fees as well as costs. [Rp 33]. Appellant's other prayers for relief demand that all of the defendants be enjoined and restrained from future tortious interference with Appellant's allegedly legitimate right to conduct non-emergency parachute operations, as well as a Writ of

Mandamus against the Airport requiring it to negotiate in good faith and perform various other actions.

In the Rule to Vacate/Eject, Horry County only sought to regain possession of its property by a summary proceeding in magistrate's court as expressly authorized by section 27-37-20. As indicated in *Wilson*, Appellant's Rule 12(b)(8) motion should fail because Appellant's claims and the object of Appellant's circuit court lawsuit are not identical with the claims and object of Horry County in Horry County's Rule to Vacate/Eject. Also see: *Cricket Cove Ventures, LLC v. Gilland*, 390 S.C. 312, 316-29, 701 S.E.2d 39, 41-48 (Ct. App. 2010); *Capital City Ins. Co. v. BP Staff, Inc.*, 382 S.C. 92, 106, 674 S.E.2d 524, 532 (Ct. App. 2009).

Appellant claims its complaint in circuit court alleges a leasehold interest in Hangar 7 from which it was being improperly ejected by Horry County. This is not so. First, no ejectment proceeding had been initiated by Horry County when Appellant's complaint was filed. Second, Appellant asked for damages because it alleged individual defendant H. Randolph Haldi had written a retaliatory eviction notice by sending a letter and a new proposal for the use of Hangar 7. As Appellant represented to the magistrate, Appellant's facts derive from an alleged tort rather than landlord-tenant or commercial lease. [Rp 88].

Horry County further respectfully disagrees with Appellant's statement that there is *de facto* identity of parties because all parties were represented by the same counsel in both actions and the individual defendants were dismissed from the circuit court action.

First, Battle Law Firm, LLC, represents Horry County and Horry County Department of Airports, but Aiken, Bridges, Elliott, Tyler & Saleeby, P.A. represents the individual defendants. Further, the circuit court action has been stayed because Appellant is appealing the dismissal of the individual defendants. See: *Skydive of Myrtle Beach, Inc. (f/k/a Skydive Myrtle Beach, LLC) Appellant, v. Horry County, Horry County Department of Airports, H. Randolph Haldi, Pat Apone, Tim Jackson and Jack Teal, Respondents of whom H. Randolph Haldi, Pat Apone and Jack Teal are Respondents, Appellate Case No. 2014-002491.*

Horry County is not judge shopping. While it is true Horry County could have brought a Rule to Vacate/Eject proceeding under Section 27-37-20 in circuit court, Horry County is not required to seek possession of its property through filing a counterclaim in Appellant's circuit court action. That would unnecessarily delay the County's possessory rights until after all of Plaintiff's claims were adjudicated by jury trial and all appeals exhausted. See *Metro. Life Ins. Co. v. Stuckey*, 194 S.C. 469, 475; 10 S.E.2d 3, 5-6 (1940).

Appellant's circuit court case is nearly two years old. Discovery in Appellant's circuit court case has been stayed during the appeal of the dismissal of the individual defendants, which is still pending. It seems as though Appellant's circuit court lawsuit will continue on for several more years before the merits of Appellant's circuit court claims are reached, given Appellant's demonstrated practice of seeking reconsideration and appealing every adverse decision. [See Transcript of Record, *passim*]. The County

should not have to wait to repossess its property, and the law does not require the County to do so.

III. The circuit court and the magistrate correctly followed the rules of court and Appellant received due process.

A. Justice of the case.

Appellant claims this Court should reverse the circuit court and vacate the magistrate's order because the magistrate's ruling was controlled by technical rulings.

[Appellant's Brief p. 18] Appellant claims reversal is necessary to "give justice of the case without regard to technical errors and defects which do not affect the merits."

[Appellant's Brief p. 22] Horry County respectfully disagrees.

It is an undisputed fact that Appellant occupied Horry County's property from January 31, 2014 until October 22, 2015, as a result of Appellant's legal maneuvers.

Two judges, on two occasions, have looked at "the merits and the justice" of Appellant's occupation and determined that Appellant does not have the right to occupy Horry County's property and Appellant should be ejected. Appellant has also filed a complaint with the Federal Aviation Administration alleging unlawful discriminatory conduct relating to the occupancy and use of the lease interest, federal law, and the recognized aeronautical activity of skydiving. [Rp 82]. Appellant's FAA complaint was dismissed without prejudice. [Rp 82].

B. Magistrate Court's Timeline.

June 5, 2014	Horry County files Rule to Vacate/Eject in Magistrate's Court. Horry County sends electronic notice to Appellant's Attorney.
--------------	--

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